IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA

NORTHERN DIVISION
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BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS,
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INC.
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)


Defendant.




)

PLAINTIFF NOW COMMUNICATIONS, INC.’S MEMORANDUM BRIEF

IN SUPPORT OF ITS RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.’S MOTION TO DISMISS

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, NOW Communications, Inc. (“NOW”), by and through counsel, and submits this Memorandum Brief in Support of its Response to the Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendant BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. (“BellSouth”).  NOW states as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

NOW Communications, Inc. filed this civil action against BellSouth 

Telecommunications, Inc. for damages sustained by NOW as the result of BellSouth’s acts and omissions toward the duties legally imposed upon it toward NOW and other similarly situated persons.  NOW’s Complaint is founded in federal antitrust law and common law business tort theories of recovery.


NOW is a reseller of telecommunications services.  It purchases these services from BellSouth, the incumbent local telecommunications services provider in the southeastern United States, and resells these services to its own prepaid residential customers.  NOW is classified as a Competitive Local Exchange Carrier (CLEC).  BellSouth is an Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier (ILEC).  BellSouth has acted to restrict NOW’s access to BellSouth’s network, an essential facility in the provision of telecommunications through the local exchange in the BellSouth operating area.


BellSouth has filed its Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6), alleging that this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the subject matter of this civil action and that NOW has failed to state a valid cause of action.  NOW will demonstrate that this Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this civil action and that NOW has stated a valid cause of action.  For the reasons outlined below, BellSouth’s Motion to Dismiss must be denied.   

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Rule 12(b)(1) Motion

BellSouth bases part of its Motion to Dismiss on Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(1).  Since BellSouth does not rely on any documents or other evidence outside of the Complaint, its 12(b)(1) motion must be considered a “facial attack” on NOW’s Complaint.  A “facial attack” on the Complaint “require[s] the court merely to look and see if [the] plaintiff has sufficiently alleged a basis of subject matter jurisdiction, and the allegations in the complaint are taken as true for the purposes of the motion.”  Menchaca v. Chrysler Credit Corp., 613 F.2d 507, 511 (5th Cir.), cert. Denied, 449 U. S. 953, 101 S.Ct. 358, 66 L.Ed. 217 (1980) (citing Mortensen v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n, 549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977)).  Under a “facial attack’, the plaintiff enjoys protections similar to those allowed in opposing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, in which the court considers the allegations of the complaint, as set forth by the plaintiff, to be true.  Williamson v. Tucker, 645 F.2d 404, 412 (5th Cir.), cert. Denied, 454 U. S. 897, 102 S.Ct. 396, 70 L.Ed. 2d 212 (1981).  Therefore, for the purposes of NOW’s opposition to BellSouth’s Motion to Dismiss, the Court should consider the allegations contained in NOW’s Complaint to be true.

B. Rule 12(b)(6) Motion

The plaintiff opposing a Rule 21(b)(6) motion has similar protections as those 

afforded a plaintiff opposing a Rule 12(b)(1) motion.  Dismissal of a plaintiff’s claim is appropriate “only if it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations.”  Blackston v. Alabama, 30 F.3d 117, 120 (11th Cir. 1994) (quoting Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U. S. 69, 73 104 S.Ct. 2229, 2232, 81 L.Ed.2d 59 (1984)).  “[T]he Court must accept as true all facts alleged and draw all inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”  MGC Communications, Inc. v. BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., 146 F.Supp.2d 1344, 1350 (S.D. Fla. 2001).  This requirement means that there is a very low sufficiency threshold for a claim to survive a motion to dismiss.  Id.  At this point in the litigation, the Court should not be concerned with the plaintiff’s likelihood of prevailing on its claims but should rather afford it the opportunity to present evidence to support its claim.  Little v. City of North Miami, 805 F.2d 962, 965 (11th Cir. 1986).  “Dismissal is appropriate only when no construction of the factual allegations of a complaint will support the cause of action.”  MCG Communications, Inc. at 1350.  In assessing the standard for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), it is clear that NOW has pled facts sufficient to allow its cause of action to withstand dismissal.  NOW has pled a detailed set of facts, alleging actions and omissions by BellSouth which have caused injury to NOW.  NOW has sought recovery from BellSouth in sixteen separate counts.  NOW’s Complaint is not a simple, “bare bones” notice pleading but a detailed statement of its claims against BellSouth.  Under the standards of Rule 12(b)(6) favoring the non-moving party, NOW has certainly pled sufficient facts to withstand dismissal of its Complaint.

III. ARGUMENT

A.
Applicability of the Antitrust Laws


BellSouth places heavy reliance on the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“the 

Act”) in support of its argument that this Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to decide the issues in this civil action.  The Act is not the exclusive avenue for redress for causes of action involving telecommunications.  The Act contains a “savings clause”, which preserves the applicability of the antitrust laws to telecommunications.  47 U. S. C. §601(b)(1).  Section 601(b)(1) provides that nothing in the Act “shall be construed to modify, impair, or supersede the applicability of the antitrust laws.”  Id.  The Act makes clear that the antitrust laws remain fully applicable to telecommunications.  Nowhere does the Act confer antitrust immunity for conduct in local markets, and it cannot be read to do so implicitly.  A statute does not impliedly confer antitrust immunity unless there is a “plain repugnancy” between the statute and the antitrust laws.  United States v. Philadelphia National Bank, 374 U. S. 321, 350-52 (1963); MCI Communications Corp. v. AT&T, 708 F.2d 1081, 1102 (7th Cir. 1983).  The Act confers no antitrust immunity on ILECs, such as BellSouth, because it is not “repugnant” to the antitrust laws.  The two statutes are complementary; both foster competition.


BellSouth argues that the Act contains a comprehensive remedial scheme which governs all areas of competition in the telecommunications industry.  However, BellSouth failure to demonstrate to the FCC that it has fully opened its facilities to competition proves that the Act’s requirements for open and competitive telecommunications markets are not being met.  This Court can take judicial notice of the fact that in December 2001 BellSouth withdrew its petition to the FCC for approval to provide long-distance service in Georgia and Louisiana when it was notified by the FCC that the petition would be denied for BellSouth’s failure to open its network and facilities to competition.  BellSouth has re-filed its petition and started the process over again.  BellSouth has had two previous applications in Louisiana rejected by the FCC.  This series of rejected and withdrawn applications demonstrates that, six years after the passage of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, BellSouth has still not opened itself up to competition in its operating area.  The Act is not achieving its purpose of open competition in the telecommunications arena, so the antitrust laws must be utilized by CLECs in order to effectively compete with BellSouth. 


Exclusionary conduct that violates the antitrust laws remains fully actionable, even if that conduct also violates the Telecommunications Act.  Because the Act and the antitrust statutes are complementary, conduct violative of the Act may also be actionable under the antitrust laws.  NOW strongly disputes BellSouth’s assertion that the Act’s regulatory scheme makes antitrust actions unnecessary (BellSouth brief at 16).  The fact that Congress provided a savings clause in the Act preserving the applicability of the antitrust laws shows an affirmative recognition that the antitrust laws are still very applicable to the telecommunications industry and are not superceded by the Act.  Even though the FCC has been given regulatory authority over of the telecommunications industry, it is not outside the bounds of the antitrust laws.  The United States Supreme Court has stated that activities which come under the jurisdiction of a regulatory agency nevertheless may be subject to the antitrust laws.  Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States, 410 U.S. 366, 372, 93 S.Ct. 1022, 35 L.Ed.2d 359 (1973), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 891, 104 S.Ct. 234, 78 L.Ed.2d 226 (1983).  Finally, the Federal Communications Commission made clear that its rules implementing the Act do not immunize ILECs from antitrust suits.  61 Fed. Reg. 45476, 45494 at para. 100 (1996).  


As in the present case, Otter Tail involved interconnection agreements.  Otter Tail Power Company was the incumbent supplier of electric power in several municipalities.  The complaint filed against it alleged that Otter Tail had monopolized the retail distribution of electric power in the relevant market in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act and prevented the municipalities from establishing their own distribution systems.  Otter Tail argued that since the Federal Power Act governed the provision of electric power, it was not subject to antitrust regulation with respect to its refusal to deal.  The Supreme Court disagreed.  As with the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the Federal Power Act was designed to encourage competition through voluntary interconnections.  As in the Telecommunications Act, nothing in the Federal Power Act provided protection or immunity from the operation of the antitrust laws.  Id. at 373-74.  The Telecommunications Act also encourages competition through voluntary interconnection agreements, to be negotiated and entered into by willing parties.  


B.
Essential Facility


BellSouth’s network is an essential facility in the provision of telecommunications services within the BellSouth operating area.  Congress recognized as much by providing a process whereby CLECs, such as NOW, can purchase telecommunications services from ILECs, such as BellSouth, and then resell them to their own customers.  The alternative to the resale process would be to require all competitors of an incumbent telephone company to build their own separate networks, an option whose massive cost would virtually eliminate all competition in the provision of these services.


BellSouth’s network meets the four-part test of an “essential facility” which originated in Otter Tail and was set forth more fully in MCI Communications Corp. v. AT&T Co., 708 F.2d 1081 (7th Cir. 1983) and Advanced Health-Care Servs., Inc. v. Radford Community Hosp., 910 F.2d 139 (4th Cir. 1990), among other cases.  To establish liability under the essential facilities doctrine:  (1) the essential facility must be controlled by a monopolist; (2) a competitor must be unable practically or reasonably to duplicate the essential facility; (3) the monopolist must deny the use of the facility to a competitor; and (4) the feasibility of providing the facility must be addressed.  MCI Communications Corp. at 1132-33.  In the instant case, the essential facility, the BellSouth network, is clearly controlled by the incumbent monopolist, BellSouth.  NOW and other competitors are unable practically or reasonably to duplicate the essential facility because of the enormous cost involved in duplicating a telecommunications network to serve residential customers.  BellSouth has erected barriers to competitors’ use of its network by providing inadequate service to its competitors, designed to hinder their ability to operate.  BellSouth has also erected barriers to its network by refusing to deal in good faith with competitors in the negotiation of interconnection agreements.  The feasibility of providing the facility has been addressed by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 through the use of interconnection agreements, designed to provide access to BellSouth’s network to its competitors.


C.
BellSouth’s Failure to Deal in Good Faith

BellSouth argues that the antitrust laws place no affirmative duty on it to assist NOW.  NOW’s claims are not based upon facts alleging BellSouth failed in some affirmative duty to assist NOW.  Central to NOW’s Complaint are allegations that BellSouth took affirmative steps to impede competition by NOW and dealt with NOW in bad faith in order to preserve its monopoly position.  Such actions are violations of the antitrust laws.  Likewise, BellSouth argues that the Sherman Act imposes no duty on competitors to provide service and that NOW’s allegation that BellSouth provides it with poor service is not actionable under the antitrust laws.  Once again, NOW’s Complaint centers on BellSouth’s exclusionary conduct and refusals to deal with NOW.       

BellSouth argues that NOW’s complaint should be dismissed because the antitrust laws do not place upon a business the obligation to deal with its competitors.  The case of MCI Communications Corp. v. AT&T Co., 708 F.2d 1081 (7th Cir. 1983), cited by BellSouth in its brief, affirms this general principle.  However, the Court also made clear that federal courts have found a duty under section 2 of the Sherman Act for a monopolist to trade with its competitors on nondiscriminatory terms.  One of these situations is where a monopolist controls an “essential service” or “bottleneck”.  MCI Communications Corp. at 1148.  As argued above, BellSouth, a regulated monopolist, controls an “essential service” or “bottleneck”---the telecommunications network in its operating area. 


NOW needs access to BellSouth’s essential facility (its network) in order to compete with BellSouth in the provision of local residential telecommunications services.  NOW cannot compete with BellSouth if BellSouth takes actions which impede NOW’s access to this essential facility and cripple NOW’s ability to effectively compete with BellSouth.  BellSouth’s network is clearly an essential facility for purposes of antitrust law.  

NOW agrees with the statement contained in Seagood Trading Corporation v. Jerrico, Inc., 924 F.2d 1555, 1573 (11th Cir. 1991), cited in BellSouth’s brief, that the antitrust laws are not intended to artificially support firms in the marketplace that cannot compete on their own.  However, Seagood Trading Corp. also states that when the market is distorted by anticompetitive conduct, the antitrust laws should be invoked.  Id.  Such is the case here.  NOW’s Complaint does not center on whether the incumbent monopolist (BellSouth) refuses to help NOW in challenging its monopoly.  NOW has competed with BellSouth since 1996.  It is not seeking the benefit of the antitrust laws to “prop up” its competitive efforts against BellSouth.  NOW seeks only a level playing field on which to compete.  BellSouth’s status as an incumbent, regulated monopolist by definition distorts the market with the type of anticompetitive conduct requiring use of the antitrust laws contemplated in Seagood Trading Corp. 

BellSouth’s actions in restricting NOW’s access to the BellSouth network violate the antitrust laws.  “[A]ctions which might be lawful in another context can constitute a violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act if they are done with the purpose of benefiting a monopolist as against its competitors, and have the effect of smothering competitors, either in the market where the monopoly power exists or in adjacent markets.”  MCI Communications Corp. v. AT&T Co., 708 F.2d 1081, 1149 (7th Cir. 1983).  BellSouth anticompetitive actions in the instant case rise to the level of violations of section 2 of the Sherman Act because they were undertaken with the purpose of benefiting itself as the incumbent monopolist in the relevant market defined as the BellSouth operating area.  The actions had the effect of smothering competitors, such as NOW, by limiting access to the BellSouth network.  Competition to BellSouth’s monopoly was stifled as a result of BellSouth’s limiting access to its network.

D.
NOW’s Common Law Claims    

NOW’s common law claims must also survive.  NOW inadvertently omitted to  plead specifically that this Court has jurisdiction over this matter based upon diversity of citizenship of the parties, pursuant to 28 U. S. C. §1332.  However, NOW has clearly pled Section 1332’s requirements for jurisdiction based upon diversity of citizenship.  The parties are citizens of different States (Complaint ¶¶1, 2) and the amount in controversy is greater than $75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs (Complaint, XII. Demand for Judgment and XIII. Prayer for Relief).  28 U. S. C. §1332(a).  A simple amendment to the Complaint setting forth jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U. S. C. §1332(a) would be all that is required to correct any alleged defect in the pleadings.  For the sake of argument, should the Court choose to dismiss NOW’s antitrust claims and thereby remove federal question jurisdiction, it would still have jurisdiction over NOW’s remaining claims on the basis of diversity jurisdiction.  However, should the Court decide to dismiss both NOW’s antitrust and common law claims, NOW would welcome the opportunity to bring its common law claims against BellSouth in state court.

1. BellSouth’s duty of good faith and fair dealing and fraudulent misrepresentation

BellSouth is obligated under the common law to deal fairly with NOW in the negotiation of the interconnection agreement between them.  During negotiations for the second Resale Agreement entered into by the parties, NOW conceded issues to which it was already entitled in order to obtain a waiver of the toll blocking charges from BellSouth.  Per the terms of BellSouth’s tariff, it was not charging its credit-challenged customers for toll blocking.  NOW, as a customer of BellSouth, was entitled to the same treatment that BellSouth’s own customers were receiving and therefore should have received a waiver of the toll block charges without making any concessions in the negotiations.  NOW did not know, and could not have known, that BellSouth was not charging its own credit-challenged customers for toll blocking.  This was a material fact that BellSouth withheld from NOW in negotiations.

BellSouth negotiated with NOW in bad faith in the negotiations for the second Resale Agreement between the parties.  In the negotiations for this contract, the central factor was that NOW would not accept BellSouth’s demand that it pay OSS charges to BellSouth, which totaled between $70,000 and $80,000 per month.  BellSouth could not agree to a contract with NOW that did not include OSS charges.  BellSouth instead agreed to a discount on volume.  If NOW maintained a specified customer volume, it would not be charged toll block charges by BellSouth.  These charges amounted to between $70,000 and $80,000 per month.  BellSouth knew or should have known that the charging of a toll block charge was contrary to its filed tariff and/or BellSouth policy.  NOW exchanged something of value---its objection to paying OSS charges---for BellSouth’s concession of no value---the waiver of the toll block charges.  BellSouth knew during the negotiations that it would not charge in the future for toll blocking and would in fact reimburse CLECs such as NOW for toll block charges they had paid to BellSouth.  BellSouth owed NOW a duty to come forward with its knowledge of this policy but did not disclose this to NOW.  Thus, BellSouth’s negotiations with NOW, centered around this critical issue, were in bad faith.

NOW received nothing of value from BellSouth and actually lost money on this arrangement because it was forced to absorb the cost of telephone lines which were ordered by its customers but not paid for in order to maintain the volume and term agreement and receive the contractual discount from BellSouth.  NOW lost between $500,000 and $600,000 per year in maintaining subscriber levels to qualify for the volume and term agreement.  BellSouth unlawfully used its monopoly status to impose this charge on NOW when NOW was vulnerable and in a financially weakened position.  BellSouth held $2-3 million of NOW’s cash flow in the form of toll block charges for two to three years before reimbursing these funds.  In the interim, NOW was weakened to the point of being unable to compete with BellSouth and other CLECs. 

2.
BellSouth’s tortious interference with NOW’s contractual relations.

To sustain a claim for tortious interference with a contract under Alabma common law, a plaintiff must show:  (1) that a contract or business relation exists; (2) that the defendant had knowledge of the contract or business relation; (3) that the defendant intentionally interfered with the contract or business relation; and (4) that the plaintiff was damaged by the defendant’s actions.  Pakruda v. Cross, 669 So.2d 907, 909 (Ala. 1995) (citations omitted).  All of NOW’s subscribers are purchasers of telecommunications services purchased by NOW from BellSouth and resold by NOW.  BellSouth knew of these contractual relationships because it, not NOW, physically connected NOW’s subscribers to the BellSouth network.  BellSouth tortiously interfered with NOW’s contracts with its existing subscribers and prospective subscribers by its actions in limiting NOW’s access to its network and in providing NOW with inferior telecommunications services in violation of its duties under the Resale Agreement and the Telecommunications Act, without any right or privilege to do so.  It provided NOW with inferior telecommunications services for resale with the purpose of causing NOW to lose existing subscribers who had purchased the inferior services or persons who were prospective subscribers of the telecommunications services.  As a result, NOW suffered injury.  BellSouth’s actions proximately caused injury to NOW by causing NOW substantial losses in its customer base.  NOW’s customer base numbers in the thousands, and the customers it lost to the actions of BellSouth number in the hundreds, if not thousands.  Under notice pleading, NOW is not required to plead with specificity each and every customer or prospective customer it lost as a result of BellSouth’s actions.  Should BellSouth wish to inquire further into this area, it is an area for discovery, not a question to be considered by the Court on a motion to dismiss.

3.
NOW’s request for injunctive relief

NOW requested injunctive relief because of the imminent threat of being disconnected from the BellSouth network over this issue.  BellSouth’s anticompetitive and wrongful acts have placed NOW in the doorway of bankruptcy.  Bellsouth’s monopolistic practices continue to this day in its dealings with NOW.  NOW continues to suffer from BellSouth’s wrongful acts.  These continuing acts will certainly complete the destruction of NOW if allowed to continue.  Injunctive relief should be available to NOW for the correction of BellSouth’s anticompetitive activities and wrongful acts in order to bring about a competitive balance in the industry, free of the exercise of monopoly power by BellSouth.  NOW should be allowed to put on its proof in support of its demand for injunctive relief at the appropriate time, which will demonstrate its entitlement to injunctive relief.  This Court should not give up its power to BellSouth when the Court is the last resort for correcting BellSouth’s abuse of its monopoly power.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, BellSouth’s Motion to Dismiss should be denied in 

its entirety.

THIS, the 15th day of March, 2002.
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